2006

Murlyn Craig Reese v. Tingey Construction and/or
Freemont Compensation Insurance Grop, LWP
Claims Solutions, Inc. Real party in Interest and
Petitioners : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction over this case by virtue of granting Petitioner LWP, Solutions Inc.'s Petition for Discretionary Interlocutory Appeal pursuant to Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 5.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW & STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the Utah Rules of Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution require that agreements reached in the course of mediation be reduced to some form of writing.

“Statutory Construction is a question of law and is reviewed by the Court de novo. When interpreting court rules, we apply our rules of statutory construction with an understanding that rules, like statutes, are passed as a whole and not in parts or sections. [O]ur primary goal is to evince the true intent and purpose of the rule-making body and to render all parts [of the rule] relevant and meaningful.” Cox v. Kramer, 76 P.3d 184, 187 (Utah Ct. App. 2003) (internal quotations and citations omitted)(alterations original).

2. Whether Utah Code Annotated § 78-31b-8 (2002) requires that all discussions among participants at a mediation be kept confidential so that such mediation discussions cannot be used to prove the existence of an alleged oral agreement.

“Matters of statutory construction . . . are questions of law that we review for correctness.” Anderson v. United Parcel Service 96 P.3d 903, 906 (Utah 2004).

3. Whether the trial court erred when it interpreted Utah Revised Statute Section 78-31b-8, as recognizing “confidential” and “non-confidential” components of mediation discussions. “Matters of statutory construction . . . are questions of law that we review for correctness.” Id.

III. PRESERVATION OF ISSUES IN TRIAL COURT

The issues set forth herein were preserved in the trial court by virtue of a request to immediately certify the trial courts ruling for interlocutory appeal.

R213: 45:24 – 46:6. When the trial court denied the request, Petitioner filed its Petition for Discretionary Interlocutory Appeal pursuant to Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 5. R205.

IV. DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES & REGULATIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-8 (2002).

Utah Rules of Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution, Rule 101.

Rule 408 of the Utah Rules of Evidence.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The trial court ordered that LWP Solutions, Inc.’s (“LWP”) counsel be deposed and forced to testify regarding statements and negotiation that took place

within the confines of mediation in direct violation of Utah Code § 78-31b-8 (2002) which deems all mediation discussions confidential. The purpose of this deposition was to prove the existence of an oral agreement between LWP and Mr. Reese that Mr. Reese alleged was reached and which LWP denies. LWP filed a petition for discretionary interlocutory appeal pursuant to Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, which this Court granted.

LWP Solutions, Inc. asks this Court to reverse the trial court's ruling and find that all mediation discussions are confidential and cannot be revealed to third parties even if introduced to prove the existence of an oral contract. Moreover, LWP asks that the Court find that the rules regulating Alternative Dispute Resolution ("ADR") require mediation participants to reduce their agreements to written form so as to avoid disputes such as the one between Mr. Reese and LWP. Allowing participants to enforce alleged oral agreements made within the confines of mediation would undermine the confidentiality requirements of mediation and would contravene ADR rules that allow participants to disengage in settlement discussions at any time prior to the execution of a written document. Moreover, allowing for an exception to confidentiality to prove oral agreements would create an exception that swallows the rule.

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves statutory construction of Utah Code Ann. § 78 -31b-8; the Utah Rules of Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution, Rule 101; and Rule 408 of the Utah Rules of Evidence so as to determine whether the rules of confidentiality surrounding mediations precludes the introduction of evidence from within a mediation to enforce a purported oral agreement reached therein. The trial court erroneously allowed Mr. Reese to introduce evidence regarding an alleged oral agreement and this Court should reverse and remand with direction that Mr. Reese's Motion to Enforce Settlement be dismissed with prejudice for lack of admissible evidence in support thereof.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW & DISPOSITION

Plaintiff Murlyn Craig Reese filed a motion to enforce a settlement agreement that he alleged was reached during a mediation with Defendant, Tingey Construction and LWP Solutions, Inc., third-party lien holder and real party in interest. A hearing was held on Mr. Reese's motion to enforce. R213. At the hearing, LWP asserted that Rule of Evidence 408, Rule 101 of the Utah Rules of Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution and Utah Code Ann. § 78 -31b-8 prohibited the disclosure of discussions made during a mediation. R213: 3:25; 6:20. The trial court was not persuaded by LWP's arguments and found that there were "confidential" and "non-confidential" components of mediation and that Mr.

Reese was free to introduce evidence regarding the “non-confidential” portions of mediation. LWP renewed its objections and asked the court to certify the matter for interlocutory appeal and the trial court denied this request. R213:45:24 -46:6. The trial court provided Mr. Reese with the option to either call LWP’s counsel to the stand at that very moment or depose her at a later date. R213:43:25-44:12. Mr. Reese chose to depose LWP’s counsel and the hearing concluded. R213:44:13 -15.

Subsequently, LWP filed a motion to intervene seeking to clarify its role in the suit and to ensure that it had standing to appeal the trial court’s ruling. R135. Mr. Reese objected to LWP intervening in the suit. R157.

LWP also submitted a proposed order to the court in an attempt to solidify the breadth of the court’s ruling. In this proposed order, LWP made it very clear that LWP’s counsel would not be required to testify in violation of attorney-client privilege. R150-152; R170-73. Mr. Reese again objected. R140.

During the hearing, Mr. Reese’s counsel purported that one of his secretaries who sat near the foyer during the mediation among the parties overheard LWP’s counsel speaking with her client and could testify in support of an oral agreement. R213: 40:6-12. Mr. Reese also sought leave to testify about the conversations that he “overheard.” *Ibid.* LWP filed a motion with the court seeking exclusion of this evidence on the ground that it was protected by attorney-client privilege and this privilege was not waived by an eavesdropper. R.8 fn 2 – R9; R170-73.

Despite LWP's objections, the trial court executed the proposed order tendered by Mr. Reese. R179-181. This order did not explain with any detail the scope of the deposition of LWP's counsel. R179-181. Most importantly, the executed order was silent on the issue of whether LWP's counsel would be required to violate attorney-client privilege and testify about her discussions with her client. R179-181. It also failed to rule on the issue of whether opposing counsel's secretary would be allowed to testify about what she claims she overheard LWP's counsel say. R179-181.

The court also failed to rule on LWP's motion to intervene in the suit prior to entering the above-described order. R135; R138 and R197-198. As a consequence, LWP was forced to file a motion for extraordinary writ to protect its interest. R195. As a precaution, LWP also filed a motion for discretionary interlocutory appeal and a motion to quash the deposition notice for Ms. Acosta, LWP's counsel.¹ R185-187. Ultimately, the trial court allowed LWP to intervene in the suit and LWP's petition for discretionary interlocutory appeal was granted by the Court. R197-198; R205-206.

¹ LWP Solutions, Inc. also filed a Petition for Extraordinary Writ and Rule 8A Emergency Relief Petition. R.195. This request was denied by the Utah Supreme Court. R202.

VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about May 24, 2000, Mr. Reese was involved in a work-related accident when he fell from a third-story balcony while attempting to raise a toolbox from the ground using an electrical cord. R2. Mr. Reese had leaned on a temporary railing while attempting to raise his tools. R2. The temporary railing gave way and Mr. Reese fell. He sustained significant injury to his leg. R2. As Mr. Reese was in the course and scope of his employment, all medical expenses related to this injury were covered by Mr. Reese's employer's workers compensation insurance. R69. The insurance carrier retained LWP Solutions, Inc. ("LWP") to administer the payment of workers compensation benefits to Mr. Reese and to pay medical bills as they were incurred.²

² LWP Solutions, Inc. would like to clarify its role in this litigation as there appears to be some confusion. LWP is not an insurance provider but is a third-party administrator that has been hired by the Utah Property and Casualty Guarantee Association ("UPCIGA"). UPCIGA has taken over payment of Mr. Reese's workers compensation claim in light of the fact that the workers compensation insurance company, Fremont Compensation Insurance Group/Fremont Indemnity Group, was liquidated in 2003. See Utah Code Ann. § 31A-28-202 et seq. (2006)(setting forth the role that UPCIGA plays in circumstances involving insolvent insurers). While LWP has been making payments to Mr. Reese and to others on his behalf, the money for such payments has been provided, at least in part, by UPCIGA or are funds to which UPCIGA is entitled to as a result of Fremont's liquidation. Accordingly, UPCIGA has a lien on proceeds recovered by Mr. Reese in his litigation against Tingey Construction. LWP is acting as UPCIGA's agent in this matter and is afforded the same protections and obligations as UPCIGA pursuant to Utah Statute.

Subsequently, Mr. Reese retained his own counsel and filed suit against Tingey Construction (“Tingey”). R2. In that suit, Mr. Reese argued that Tingey had negligently constructed the temporary railing and that had the temporary railing been properly constructed, he would not have fallen. R2. Tingey defended the suit by stating that Mr. Reese was at fault and that his recovery was reduced by his own negligence. R16.

In the fall of 2005, Mr. Reese contacted LWP and asked for a break down of the money it had paid to Mr. Reese in workers compensation benefits and medical bills. Mr. Reese then asked if LWP would reduce the amount of its lien so as to facilitate settlement of Mr. Reese’s suit against Tingey. At Mr. Reese’s urging, LWP agreed to participate in a mediation of the dispute between Tingey and Mr. Reese that was to occur on December 30, 2005. R127. Paul Felt acted as the mediator.³ R77.

Near the end of the mediation, LWP was presented with a Memorandum of Understanding that purported to set forth the terms of the agreement with the parties. LWP refused to sign because the memorandum contained a term to which

³ Over objection and at the trial court’s insistence, LWP submitted an affidavit of its counsel recounting the events that took place at the mediation from her perspective. R126-13. The submission of this affidavit at the hearing should not be seen as a waiver of LWP’s objection to being asked to provide testimony regarding what occurred at the mediation. LWP introduced this evidence only because the trial court insisted. LWP has taken caution to limit reference to the any information contained in that affidavit.

LWP had not agreed. LWP's counsel advised Mr. Reese, Tingey and the mediator that there was no agreement with LWP. Tingey left the mediation and LWP and Mr. Reese remained to further negotiate a settlement. Ultimately, no resolution was reached and LWP left the mediation without executing the Memorandum of Understanding or any other written document. LWP informed Mr. Reese that no agreement had been reached prior to leaving.

Following the mediation, LWP wrote Mr. Reese several letters reiterating its position that no agreement had been reached at the mediation. R91 -94 Moreover, LWP cautioned Mr. Reese that pursuant to Lyons v. Booker, 982 P.2d 1142 (Utah Ct. App. 1999), mediation discussions were confidential and could not be used by Mr. Reese to enforce any alleged oral agreement. R91 -92. Despite LWP's warnings that the content of the mediation was confidential, Mr. Reese filed a Joint Motion to Enforce Settlement.⁴ R54.

The trial court heard oral argument on the motion to enforce settlement on May 22, 2006. R213. At the hearing, LWP reasserted its argument that the parties had not reached any agreement. LWP further argued that Mr. Reese was

⁴ Below, Mr. Reese made much of the fact that Tingey Construction Inc. ("Tingey") joined in the motion to enforce. LWP had very little contact with Tingey during the mediation and never discussed the terms of any purported settlement with Mr. Reese with any representative of Tingey. Consequently, Tingey can only testify about what Mr. Reese told it or about its own suppositions; but it possesses no first-hand knowledge of any discussion between LWP and Mr. Reese. Its joinder in the motion to enforce is of limited significance.

prohibited from revealing confidential mediation discussions pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-08.

The trial court found as follows: “Mediation discussions contain both “confidential” and “non-confidential” discussions and that LWP’s counsel would be deposed about the mediation. R179-181. The trial court held that “the scope of the deposition shall consist of the content of the mediation, including the process of the mediation and conversations and agreements that were made during the mediation.” R179-181. LWP sought an interlocutory appeal to prevent its counsel from being deposed and to preserve the confidentiality of the mediation among the parties. R206.

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mediation discussions are confidential pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-08, Rule 101 of the Utah Rules of Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution, and Rule 408 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The trial court erred when it ordered that LWP’s counsel could be deposed regarding confidential mediation discussions. The courts are not to delve into confidential mediation discussions to determine whether an oral agreement was reached during mediation. The bright-line rule is that oral agreements made during a mediation will not be enforced by the courts and that parties need to protect themselves and reduce all agreements to some form of writing prior to the end of the mediation. See Lyons

v. Booker, 982 P.2d 1142 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). LWP refused to execute any “Memorandum of Understanding” that was presented to it at the end of the mediation because the memorandum contained a term to which it did not agree. LWP communicated its refusal plainly to the others at the mediation. This is conclusive proof that the parties do not have an enforceable agreement since parties to mediation may withdraw at any point prior to the execution of a written summary of the agreement.⁵

VIII. ARGUMENT

In his motion, Mr. Reese attempts to enforce a settlement agreement that was never reached. It appears that the Plaintiff and the Defendant came to some sort of resolution during the mediation, but it is clear that no such agreement was reached with LWP. R88. Prior to leaving the mediation on December 30, 2005, counsel for LWP made it clear to all involved that LWP did not agree to the terms of the settlement set forth in the document drafted by the mediator, Paul Felt. R88.

⁵ If required to do so, LWP could introduce evidence to show that there was no meeting of the minds between LWP and Mr. Reese. The lack of a meeting of the minds between the parties is evidenced by LWP’s refusal to execute the document presented to it at the end of the mediation on the grounds that it contained a term to which it did not agree. Upon review of this document and the specific language therein, LWP recognized immediately that Mr. Reese had incorrectly set forth an agreement between the two parties. LWP notified the participants immediately of the error but Mr. Reese insisted that this term had been fully discussed even though LWP was certain that the term had not been discussed. The parties failed to reach any meeting of the minds and the alleged oral agreement is unenforceable on this ground as well.

LWP's counsel refused to execute the written agreement because it contained a term to which LWP did not agree. *Ibid.*

Mr. Reese argues (1) that LWP is not entitled to the benefits of confidentiality in Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-8 because it was not a "party" to the suit and because the portion of the mediation needed to prove the existence of an oral agreement is not confidential, and (2) that no written document is necessary to bind a party to alleged agreements made in mediation, because other jurisdictions enforce oral agreements in mediation.

Mr. Reese is mistaken in each assertion and the trial court erred in allowing him to introduce evidence regarding an alleged oral agreement and erred in ordering that LWP's counsel be deposed regarding confidential mediation discussions. This Court should reverse the trial court's ruling that LWP's counsel be deposed regarding confidential mediation discussions. The Court should remand with direction that Mr. Reese's motion to enforce be dismissed with prejudice for lack of admissible evidence to support his claim.

A. LWP's Participation in the Mediation Entitles it to Treat all Portions of the Mediation as Confidential.

1. Both the Benefits and the Burdens of Confidentiality Apply to LWP.

Below, Mr. Reese argued that Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-8 (2) did not apply to LWP. Mr. Reese argued that the confidentiality requirement set forth in Section

78-31b-8(2) only prohibited admission of confidential statement at a subsequent “trial of the same case or same issues between the same parties.” R213:14:9-24.

Mr. Reese’s legal argument is flawed. Utah Code Section 78-31b-8 does provided at (2) that “[n]o evidence concerning the fact, conduct, or result of an ADR proceeding may be subject to discovery or admissible at any subsequent trial...,” but it also provides that confidentiality applies to all persons present at the mediation, including lien holders such as LWP. Id.

Subsection (4) provides “no person attending an ADR proceeding . . . may disclose or be required to disclose any information obtained in the course of an ADR proceeding.” Id. The plain language of this statute states that the facts, conduct, or result of a mediation are confidential. There is no limit as to who is bound by the mandate of confidentiality because the legislature used the word “person,” not parties, as Mr. Reese argues.

Moreover, if the Court were to adopt Mr. Reese’s reasoning it could be argued that LWP would not be entitled to the benefits of confidentiality under Utah law because it was not named as a “party” to this suit at the time of the mediation. This is an absurd result and is not what the Legislature intended. As the plain language of § 78-31b-8(4) provides, everyone who participates in mediation must adhere to the confidentiality requirements.

2. *All Mediation Discussions Are Confidential.*

Similarly, there is no basis in law or fact to support the trial court's finding that there are "confidential" and "non confidential" portions of mediation. R178. The plain language of § 78-31b-8 states that mediation is confidential. The statute does not distinguish between aspects of mediation as the trial court found or as Mr. Reese argues. Instead, all mediation discussions are treated as equally confidential.

Furthermore, both the trial court and Mr. Reese ignore the fact that the Utah Court of Appeals has previously ruled that mediation discussions are confidential and did not distinguish between "confidential" and "non-confidential" portions of mediation in making its ruling. In Lyons v. Booker, 982 P.2d 1142 (Utah Ct. App. 1999), the Utah Court of Appeals addressed the confidentiality of statements made during a court-ordered mediation. In that case, the parties had been sent to mediation on appeal. See id. at 1143. The Appellant subsequently filed a motion with the appeals court seeking to enforce an agreement allegedly reached during mediation or, in the alternative, for return of monies tendered in furtherance of settlement. See id. The Court of Appeals refused to hear the motion on the ground that it does not hear new evidence. See id. The issue regarding the enforcement of the settlement was remanded to the trial court for hearing. See id.

at 1143-44. The Court of Appeals discussed at length the procedure to be followed on remand. See id. at 1144.

The Court stated as follows:

In the course of proceedings on remand, pursuant to the prior order of this court, neither counsel nor parties may disclose to any court, in argument, briefs, or otherwise, statements or comments made during the initial mediation conference or in related discussions involving the appellate mediator thereafter. We interpret this prohibition to apply equally to notes or other memoranda of such statements or comments. This restriction applies with equal force to the appellate mediator in the unlikely event that she should be asked to participate in any way in the proceeding on remand.

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