2006

Murlyn Craig Reese v. Tingey Construction, Inc., LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. Real Party in Interest and Petitioners : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff Craig Reese and third-party, interested spectator LWP reached an agreement on December 30, 2005, outside of the mediation between the parties, Plaintiff Craig Reese

and Defendant Tingey Construction. “‘Mediation’ means a private forum in which one or more impartial persons facilitate communication between parties to a civil action to promote a mutually acceptable resolution or settlement.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-2(8). The agreement reached does not fall under the statutory definition of a mediation. LWP, at the time of the mediation, was not a party to the action. This separate agreement was reached without the assistance of a neutral facilitator. There was no lawsuit between the parties that needed a mutually acceptable resolution. Craig Reese’s responsibility to pay LWP’s lien on any proceeds in the litigation was statutory. Craig Reese asked LWP to attend the mediation to find out what his view was with regard to lien resolution. Therefore, the discussions as to the existence of the separate agreement between Craig Reese and LWP are not confidential because they did not take place while Craig Reese and LWP mediated an agreement.

Even an analysis of LWP’s arguments set forth in its appeal reveal that the discussions as to the existence of an agreement between Craig Reese and LWP were not confidential. Utah Code Annotated Section 78-31b-8 is clear and unambiguous in that confidentiality only applies when the evidence is used in a “trial of the same case or same issues between the same parties.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-8(2). Craig Reese has not used the evidence in a subsequent trial between the parties in the same case. Nor does the evidence disclosed involve the issues of the case between Craig Reese and Tingey. Furthermore, Section 78-31b-8(4) allows parties to disclosed that which the parties agree to disclose. Here, both parties to the lawsuit, Craig Reese and Tingey, jointly filed the Motion to Enforce Settlement,

agreeing to the terms that would be disclosed as to the existence of an agreement.

Lyons v. Booker, the sole Utah case that LWP relies on is not applicable in this case. *Lyons* only applies to appellate mandated mediation between two opposing parties of a lawsuit. LWP was not a party to the case at the time the agreement was made. Also, the parties in *Lyons* disclosed specific details about the case. Here, Craig Reese and Tingey only disclosed enough information to establish the existence of an agreement.

The District Court gave careful and specific direction in carving out its order to allow Craig Reese to depose Ms. Acosta as to the existence of an agreement reached outside of the mediation. He ordered that the specifics of the case, concerning liability, money, fault, and facts had to remain “under absolute confidentiality.” Yet, he concluded that the discussions between Craig Reese and LWP concerning the lien were not confidential, because those things did not go to the specifics of the case.

Utah case law and policy supports Craig Reese’s argument that the agreement with LWP, although not signed in writing, can be enforced. The focal purpose of having confidentiality is to encourage a party to mediate a dispute rather than pursuing litigation. This assists two main interests: first, the enforcement of binding contracts made during a mediation; and second, it keeps out evidence anything which would hurt a party if they found it necessary to proceed to trial.

Utah Code Annotated Section 78-31b-7 does not require parties execute written settlement agreements at the conclusion of a mediation. This statute stays true to the policy

of encouraging settlement agreements in lieu of litigation. Permitting parties to void settlement agreements on a whim, works a significant deterrence contrary to the policy of encouraging settlement agreements. *D.R. v. East Brunswick Bd. of Educ.*, 109 F.3d 896, 901 (3d Cir. 1997).

Case law supports the notion that mediation agreements need not be in writing to be enforceable. In those instances where a settlement agreement was reached but not signed by the parties, the agreement may still be enforced provided the parties produce sufficient evidence concerning the attainment of an agreement and the mutually agreed upon terms. *Riner v. Newbraugh*, 563 S.E.2d 802 (W.Va. 2002).

Thus, this court should affirm the trial court's order with the specific instructions of allowing Craig Reese to depose Ms. Acosta and offer evidence to establish the existence of an agreement.

ARGUMENT

I. THE AGREEMENT MADE BETWEEN MR. CRAIG REESE AND LWP WAS A SEPARATE AGREEMENT AND SHOULD BE GOVERNED BY CONTRACT LAW RATHER THAN MEDIATION RULES.

The agreement made by Craig Reese and LWP regarding the lien which LWP held on any settlement proceeds was not a mediation agreement. Mediation is legally defined by the Utah Legislature in the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act. Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-2(8). "Mediation means a private forum in which one or more impartial persons facilitate communication between parties to a civil action to promote a mutually acceptable resolution

or settlement.” *Id.*

This section of the brief firmly establishes that the separate agreement between Craig Reese and LWP was not a mediation agreement where; first, the agreement was not mediated by “one or more impartial persons;” and second, it was not “between parties to a civil action,” and third, there was no lawsuit between LWP and Craig Reese which required a “mutually acceptable resolution or settlement”. *Id.* The following sources of law, all cited by the Appellant in its brief, are not applicable to the agreement between Craig Reese and LWP because the agreement was not a mediation agreement: A) Alternative Dispute Resolution Act, Utah Code Annotated § 78-31b-8, B) *Lyons v. Booker*, 1999 UT App 172, 982 P.2d 1142, and C) Rule 101 of the Utah Rules of Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution.

On December 30, 2005, Mr. Felt was hired by two parties of a civil action, Craig Reese and Tingey Construction, to mediate a personal injury case filed by Craig Reese against Tingey. R55. The two parties contracted for the services of Mr. Felt as the mediator and arranged the time for the mediation. Mr. Felt did not mediate the agreement between Craig Reese and LWP. LWP offered to cover the future and ongoing medical expenses and compensation of Craig Reese from that day forward if Craig Reese would immediately settle its case with Tingey and pay its total net lien. R56-57; R77-78. Craig Reese in consideration of this offer would pay the entire net workers compensation lien on this case and settle his case now for less with Tingey and would not proceed to trial. *Id.* Craig Reese and LWP

agreed upon this proposal and LWP knew that Craig Reese would act in reliance within minutes upon this agreement when he settled the case for less than he was formerly willing.

Id. Before Craig Reese acted in reliance on this contract he verified with LWP that there was a meeting of the minds and asked specific questions regarding the deal. *See Sackler v. Savin*, 897 P.2d 1217 (Utah 1995). “An agreement of compromise and settlement constitutes an executory accord. It is of no legal consequence that the parties have not signed a settlement agreement.” *Mascaro v. Davis*, 741 P.2d 938, 942 (Utah 1987). Since an executory accord “constitutes a valid enforceable contract,” basic contract principles affect the determination of when a settlement agreement should be so enforced. *Id.*; *see also In Re Adoption of E.H. v. R.C. and S.C.*, 2004 UT App 419; 103 P.3d 177.

A. The Alternative Dispute Resolution Act Is Not Applicable to the Separate Agreement.

Mediation first requires “a private forum in which one or more impartial persons facilitate communication.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-2(8). This agreement was made directly between LWP and Craig Reese, there was no impartial person facilitating communication. The agreement between Craig Reese and LWP was discussed and reached during breaks in the mediation between the parties, Craig Reese and Tingey, but this separate agreement was not mediated by the mediator or any other person. While waiting to hear from the mediator concerning his claim, Craig Reese and LWP made a separate and unrelated agreement concerning LWP’s lien on any of the proceeds that Craig Reese might receive from Tingey. Pursuant to the plain meaning of the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act, this was not a

mediation agreement because there was no impartial mediator involved in the verbal agreement.

LWP was not a party of the civil action between Craig Reese and Tingey at the time the agreement was made. R55. Mediation must be “between parties to a civil action.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-2(8). Even by its own admission, LWP was only an “interested spectator” in the case between Craig Reese and Tingey because of their “lien against the proceeds of any receipt.” R213, May 22, 2006 Hearing Transcript, p. 44.

Both Craig Reese and LWP’s interests were generally aligned, because both sought to maximize the compensation from Tingey. Mediation is “to promote a mutually acceptable resolution or settlement.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-2(8). Craig Reese wants the maximum recovery, because LWP has a lien on any of the proceeds from this action. Therefore, in order for Craig Reese to personally recover any of the settlement, the settlement reached must be more than the lien that LWP holds. LWP desired the settlement recovery to be greater than its lien to recover the insurance costs it had paid. LWP and Craig Reese did not have adverse positions that required a “mutually acceptable resolution or settlement.” *Id.* No part of the agreement falls under the statutory definition of a mediation and therefore the agreement would not be held to the burdens which apply to mediated agreements.

Although in this case, Craig Reese relied on this separate agreement with LWP in his later negotiation with Tingey, it was not a part of the mediation nor had anything to do with the services of Mr. Felt the mediator. This agreement was completely disconnected from the

claims Craig Reese had against Tingey and the mediation of those claims. LWP and Craig Reese formed an enforceable contract during the mediation process where there was an offer, an acceptance, consideration and action in reliance.

Utah Code Annotated Section 78-31b-8 is not applicable to the agreement where it only applies to ADR proceedings. Title 78 Chapter 31b, the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act, only governs ADR proceedings. Section 78-31b-8(1) unequivocally states “*ADR proceedings shall be conducted...*” (emphasis added). Furthermore, the section applies to proceeding which “facilitate resolution of the dispute.” *Id.* There was no mediation between Craig Reese and LWP, and there was no dispute (at that time) to resolve; LWP was not even a party to the action.

This Court, earlier this month, addressed the proper manner to interpret statutes, they held: “our primary goal in interpreting these statutes is to evince the true intent and purpose of the Legislature.” *Li v. Enterprise Rent-a-car of Utah*, 2006 UT 80, ¶9 (quoting *Lovendahl v. Jordan Sch. Dist.*, 2002 UT 130, ¶20, 63 P.3d 705). “We do so by first looking to the statute's plain language, and giving effect to the plain language unless the language is ambiguous.” *Id.*; *See also State v. Burgess-Beynon*, 2004 UT App. 312, ¶ 7, 99 P.3d 383. “In conducting this plain meaning analysis, we read the plain language of the statute as a whole, and interpret its provisions in harmony with other statutes in the same chapter and related chapters.” *Id.* (quoting *Miller v. Weaver*, 2003 UT 12, ¶ 17, 66 P.3d 592).

Utah Code Annotated does not deem all mediation discussions confidential, as LWP

attempts to argue. Nor did the Legislature intend the confidentiality of ADR proceeding to apply to “all discussions.” This statute applies to “information obtained during an ADR proceeding” not to the facts regarding the process of a separate agreement. *Id.* at (3). LWP attempts to apply just section (8) regarding confidentiality; however, the provisions throughout the Act, make it is clear that this agreement does not fit within ADR defined mediation.

"We presume that the legislature used each word advisedly and give effect to each term according to its ordinary and accepted meaning." *State v. Barrett*, 2005 UT 88, ¶29. According to the statute, the confidentiality only applies when the evidence is used in a “trial of the same case or same issues between the same parties.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-31b-8(2). Because the agreement was not mediated and did not apply to the ADR rules, Utah Code Annotated Section 78-31b-8 is not applicable.

B. *Lyons v. Booker* Is Not Applicable to the Agreement Made Between LWP and Craig.

LWP incorrectly relies on *Lyons v. Booker*, 1999 UT App 172, 982 P.2d 1142, to apply appellate mediation standards to a non-mediated separate agreement. In *Lyons*, the Court of Appeals mandated appellate mediation through the appellate mediation office to encourage two parties to settle their dispute and decrease the time required by a full appellate review. *Id.* LWP’s reliance is misplaced as the case at hand is clearly distinguishable from *Lyons*. Neither the Reese v. Tingey case nor the agreement between Craig Reese and LWP was referred by the Court of Appeals to the appellate mediation. *Id.* at ¶3. There was no

mediation to save the time and costs required in a full appeal. *Id.* Furthermore, the agreement is not related in any way to the appellate settlement conference program. *Id.* at ¶11. Additionally, *Lyons* held that the “detailed and specific reference to discussions conducted during the mediation with the appellate mediation office of this court...” are not admissible because, “the court of appeals does not hear or consider new evidence.”

C. Rule 101 of The Utah Court-Annexed Rules of ADR, Conduct of Mediation Proceeding, Is Not Applicable to the Agreement Made Between LWP and Craig.

Rule 101, Conduct of mediation proceeding, does not apply to the agreement made between Craig Reese and LWP, regarding the lien, where this agreement was not a mediated agreement. The rule specifically discusses the a) selection of the mediator, b) pre-mediation conference, c) process of the mediation, d) separate consultation, e) settlement, and f) discovery. Utah Court-Annexed Rules of Alternative Dispute Resolution 101.

LWP did not play a role in the above factors related to a mediation. The selection of Mr. Felt, the mediator, was made exclusively by the two parties of the case, Craig Reese and Tingey. *See* R55. LWP had no voice or interest in the selection of the mediator. The pre-mediation conference was between the two parties to the suit, Craig Reese and Tingey. During the mediation of *Reese v. Tingey*, the mediator conducted the conference between the two parties, but had no part in the agreement made by Craig Reese and LWP. This agreement was not mediated and it was never intended that it be mediated making the Court-Annexed ADR Rules inapplicable. *See* R56.

LWP has attempted to incorrectly apply one small part (subsection (e): regarding a written settlement agreement) of the Utah Court-Annexed Rules of Alternative Dispute Resolution 101 to the agreement Craig Reese made with LWP. Nonetheless, this rule was not applicable to the agreement and as discussed above, LWP's agreement was not discussed or involved in the "conduct of mediation proceedings" discussed in any of the other sections of the rule. LWP's agreement is not defined as a mediated agreement under the governing law in Utah Code Title 78 Chapter 31b, and the Utah Court-Annexed Rules of Alternative Dispute Resolution 101 - 104 do not apply.

"It is of no legal consequence that the parties have not signed a settlement agreement." *Mascaro v. Davis*, 741 P.2d 938, 942 (Utah 1987); *Goodmansen v. Liberty Vending Sys.*, 866 P.2d 581, 584 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). "It is a basic and long established principle of contract law that agreements are enforceable even though there is neither a written memorialization of that agreement nor the signatures of the parties." *Healthcare Servs. Group v. Utah Dep't of Health*, 2002 UT 5, ¶ 14, 40 P.3d 591, 595; *Murray v. State*, 737 P.2d 1000, 1001 (Utah 1987). Moreover, "parties have no right to welch on a settlement deal during the sometimes substantial period between when the deal is struck and when all necessary signatures can be garnered on a stipulation." *Goodmansen*, 866 P.2d at 585 (Quoting *Brown v. Brown*, 744 P.2d 333, 336 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (Orme, J., dissenting)).

The fact that LWP now "welches" and refuses to sign the written memorialization of that agreement has no consequence on the validity of their verbal contract. LWP's

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